RECEIVED

Sep 05 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner  
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner  
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

---

SCWCC File No. 1508995

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001095

---

Samuel Paulino, Claimant

Petitioner,

v.

Diversified Coatings, Inc.,  
Employer, and AmGuard Ins.  
Co., Carrier

Repspondents.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

Stephen N. Garcia  
Bar No. 76191  
Garcia Law, LLC  
604 Pettigru Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 271-7335  
Stephen@scgarcialaw.com  
Attorney for Petitioner

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in misapplying the substantial evidence standard of review in finding that the Commission erred in affirming the Single Commissioner's award of permanent total disability under the scheduled-member statute where the substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's affirmation of the Single Commissioner's award of permanent and total disability under the scheduled-member statute?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the Full Commission erred in affirming the Single Commissioner's determination that the Claimant's back is impaired greater than fifty percent because there is no medical evidence in the record that supported the Single Commissioner's findings where there is *indeed* substantial evidence in the record to support the Single Commissioner's findings and Full Commission's affirmation?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the Claimant's spine surgery was a success where the record as a whole demonstrates anything but a successful surgical result?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that there is no evidence in the record indicating a poor surgical result and that as a result, the Commission erred in affirming the Single Commissioner's "medical opinion" where there is indeed substantial medical evidence in the record to support a finding that the Claimant suffered a poor surgical result as evidenced by the continued and persistent symptoms, limitations, restrictions, and difficulties Claimant suffered and continues to suffer following the surgical procedure to his spine?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that Claimant failed to rebut Dr. Math's twelve-percent impairment rating to his back with medical evidence, and therefore, the findings of fact adopted from the Single Commissioner's Order are inconclusive where there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Single Commissioner's findings of fact as adopted by the Full Commission?
- VI. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the Claimant did not present evidence as to the character of his back injury, the specific ways his back injury prevents him from leading a normal life, and the limitations the back injury places on his physical activities where the record contains countless instances in which the medical evidence specifically documents and highlights the many ways that the Claimant's back injury prevents him from leading a normal life and the many limitations that the back injury places on his physical activities?
- VII. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the Claimant failed to present evidence of a lower back impairment rating greater than twelve percent and that substantial evidence does not support the Commission's finding as to the scheduled member where there is *indeed* substantial evidence in the record to support the Full Commission's finding as to the scheduled member?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was heard by the Single Commissioner on March 5, 2018 in Spartanburg, South Carolina and by the Full Commission on July 16, 2018 in Columbia, SC. All parties were present for the hearing: The Claimant, Samuel Paulino, the Claimant's attorney, Stephen N. Garcia; the Defendants, Diversified Coating System and AmGuard Ins. represented by their attorney, George Gallagher.

The Single Commissioner Hearing was called at the request of Defendants/Appellants. The Defendants/Appellants sought a finding of permanency and argued that Claimant/Respondent was not permanently and totally disabled.<sup>1</sup> Defendants/Appellants further argued Claimant/Respondent had *not* sustained a 50% or greater disability to the spine and that there was no evidence of vocational disability on the part of the Claimant/Respondent citing Claimant/Respondent's age, educational background and work history in the Dominican Republic.<sup>2</sup> Defendants/Appellants admitted that Claimant/Respondent's alleged psychological condition was related to the work incident, however, Defendants/Appellants denied liability for the cost of medical treatment, and as grounds, cited that the psychological treatment was not performed by a physician of the Defendants/Appellant's choosing.<sup>3</sup>

The Claimant/Respondent argued that Claimant *was* permanently and totally disabled under S.C. Code § 42-9-10 or, alternatively, S.C. Code §42-9-30(21), and that he was entitled to future medical care, compensability as to a denied psychological claim, continuing medical treatment, and a lump sum award.<sup>4</sup> The Single Commissioner found that Claimant/Respondent

---

<sup>1</sup> Appendix p. 65, lines 20-22; *See also* p. 66, lines 10-12.

<sup>2</sup> *Id* at p. 65, line 23 through p. 66, line 12.

<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at p. 72, line 25 through p. 73, line 9.

<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at p. 67, line 5 through p. 69, line 20.

had sustained a disability of greater than 50%, that Defendant/Appellant failed to rebut the presumption of permanent and total disability, and therefore, Claimant/Respondent was permanently and totally disabled pursuant to S.C. Code § 42-9-30(21) and entitled to future medical care to maintain his current level of function.<sup>5</sup> Defendants/Appellants timely filed their Form 30 Request for Review. The Full Commission hearing was held on July 16, 2018. The Full Commission affirmed the Order of the Single Commissioner with a minor modification (by Consent of the Parties) that terminated the Claimant/Respondent's treatment benefits for psychological injury.<sup>6</sup> Defendants/Appellants appealed the Decision and Order of the Full Commission to the Court of Appeals, and after oral arguments, the Court of Appeals reversed the Decision of the Full Commission.

Claimant/Petitioner sought Certiorari of the REVERSAL by the Court of Appeals. Certiorari was granted. Claimant/Petitioner now files his Brief in support of his position, that the Court of Appeals erred in their REVERSAL.

---

<sup>5</sup> Appendix p. 39, Single Commissioner Order dated April 12, 2018.

<sup>6</sup> Appendix. p. 4, Full Commission Order dated October 3, 2018.

## ARGUMENT

- 1. Although the Court of Appeals finds that the Commission erred in affirming the Single Commissioner's award of permanent total disability under the scheduled-member statute, the substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's affirmation of the Single Commissioner's award of permanent and total disability under the scheduled-member statute.**
  
- 2. Although the Court of Appeals finds that the Commission erred in affirming the Single Commissioner's determination that the Claimant's back is impaired greater than fifty percent because there is no medical evidence in the record that supported the Single Commissioner's findings, there is indeed substantial evidence in the record to support the Single Commissioner's findings and the Full Commission's subsequent affirmation.**

It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals has misapplied or disregarded the substantial evidence standard of review in the instant matter, and specifically in the above findings. The undersigned recognizes that the Court of Appeals may have their own opinion regarding the interpretation of the evidence in the Record, however, under the substantial evidence standard of review, the Court of Appeals may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law.<sup>7</sup> In a workers' compensation case, the Court of Appeals does not have the authority to find facts; that authority belongs to the Commission.<sup>8</sup> As a general rule, the Court of Appeals must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence.<sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeals has cited the exception to this rule that, where no evidence indicates a medical opinion or finding of fact of a single commissioner originated from a medical provider, such an opinion or finding is not supported by substantial evidence, however, that

---

<sup>7</sup> *Potter v. Spartanburg School District*, 395 S.C. 17, 22, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct.App. 2011)(citing *Stone v. Traylor Bros.*, 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct. App. 2004).

<sup>8</sup> *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417,429, 737 S.E.2d 200, 206 (Ct. App. 2012); citing *Sigmon v. Dayco Corp.*, 316 S.C. 260, 262, 449 S.E.2d 497, 498 (Ct. App. 1994).

<sup>9</sup> *Id.* at 427, 205.

exception does not arise in this case. While the undersigned does not purport to place himself in the collective mind of the Court of Appeals, the underlying theme of the Court's opinion appears to be that the Court simply does not agree that the Claimant has suffered a greater than 50% disability to his spine. However, the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.<sup>10</sup>

It is also respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals has overlooked S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330(4) regarding evidentiary matters in contested cases. Specifically, the Court of Appeals overlooks the Commission's experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge in the evaluation of evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330(4) reads in pertinent part, "The agency's experience, technical competence and specialized knowledge may be utilized in the evaluation of evidence." The Commission, collectively, has spent countless hours, weeks, and even years evaluating medical records and evidence. The Commission scours medical records searching for bits and pieces of evidence to support their decisions, and ultimately, to make findings and conclusions that are fair and supported by substantial evidence. Throughout that process, the Commission gains experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge of the terms and definitions used within the medical community (*including, for example, the definition of "surgical outcomes and results"*). It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals has disregarded the statutory authority of the Commission to avail themselves of their experience, technical competence and specialized knowledge in the evaluation of medical records as well as the medical evidence as a whole. Quite frankly, the Commission deserves far more deference than it was afforded by the Court of Appeals in the instant matter.

---

<sup>10</sup> *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417,427, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205 (Ct. App. 2012).

- 3. Although the Court of Appeals finds that the Claimant’s treating physician, Dr. McHenry, reported that the Claimant’s spine surgery was a success, there is no evidence in the record to support the finding that the Claimant’s spine surgery was a success, and in fact, the record as a whole demonstrates anything but a successful surgical result.**
- 4. Although the Court of Appeals finds that there is no evidence in the record indicating a poor surgical result and that as a result, the Commission erred in affirming the single commissioner’s “medical opinion,” to the contrary, there is indeed substantial evidence in the record to support a finding by the Commission that the Claimant suffered a poor surgical result as evidenced by the continued and persistent symptoms, limitations, restrictions, and difficulties Claimant suffered and continues to suffer following the surgical procedure to his spine.**

The Court of Appeals has singled out the Single Commissioner’s finding (and the Full Commission’s subsequent affirmation thereof) that “Claimant’s impairment ratings are very low based on the poor surgical result” as having “particular significance.” The Court of Appeals further opined there is no evidence in the record that would indicate a poor surgical result to support such a finding by the Single Commissioner and affirmation by the Full Commission. In support of this opinion, the Court of Appeals has incorrectly pointed to four specific points—points for which there is no evidence in the record to support: (1) that Dr. Math gave the only medical opinion regarding Claimant’s impairment rating for his back and assigned a low back impairment of twelve percent, (2) Claimant’s physical therapist opined that he could perform medium work duties that involved flexing and rotating his lumbar spine, (3) Claimant’s treating physician and surgeon, Dr. McHenry, reported that Claimant’s spine surgery “was a success” and the disc herniation and L3-L4 extrusion were no longer present, and (4) that Dr. McHenry stated a subsequent MRI showed no impingement on the Claimant’s nerve that could cause leg pain. It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals has erred in its application of the medical evidence, medical opinions, layperson testimony, and standard of review.

**Whether Dr. Math gave the only medical opinion regarding Claimant's impairment rating for his back and assigned a low back impairment of twelve percent.**

The Court of Appeals found that Dr. Math was the only physician who gave a rating to the Claimant's spine. Simply put, Dr. Math is *not* the only physician that stated their medical opinion regarding the Claimant's impairment rating to the back (twelve percent to the lumbar spine). In fact, on April 22, 2016, Dr. McHenry rated the Claimant at thirteen percent *to the whole person* while deferring to the Functional Capacity Evaluation on the issue of the Claimant's resultant restrictions and/or limitations.<sup>11</sup> Dr. Math indeed assigned a rating to the Claimant of twelve percent *to the lumbar spine* on December 6, 2017.<sup>12</sup> However, Defendants admitted that Claimant was "entitled to PPD compensation for loss of use of the back based on the thirteen-percent whole person impairment rating assigned by the treating neurosurgeon (Dr. McHenry)."<sup>13</sup> Defendants also admitted that Claimant had sustained a seventeen-percent regional impairment to the lumbar spine.<sup>14</sup> Defendants, on yet another occasion, admitted that Claimant had sustained a seventeen-percent impairment to the lumbar spine as per Dr. McHenry and a sixteen-percent impairment to the lumbar spine as per Dr. Math.<sup>15</sup> Defendants also admitted that the Claimant had sustained a "thirteen-percent whole person impairment rating which clearly converts under the AMA Guides, the multiplier factor that you use, that that translates into seventeen-percent."<sup>16</sup> Defendants further admitted that the Claimant had sustained a "seventeen-percent lumbar regional spine impairment

---

11 Appendix pp. 128-129.

12 Appendix pp. 317, 325.

13 Appendix p. 20, paragraph 2.

14 Appendix pp. 21 through 22.

15 Appendix p. 26, 2nd full paragraph; *see also* p. 27 and p. 28.

16 Appendix p. 104, lines 11 through 15.

as the baseline.”<sup>17</sup> Defendants, even further, admitted that “the rating was... seventeen percent.”<sup>18</sup> Respectfully, the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the only medical opinion regarding the Claimant’s impairment rating for his back originated from Dr. Math. Dr. McHenry’s rating in conjunction with the admission(s) by the Defendants, denotes, at a minimum, competing medical opinions of twelve percent to the lumbar spine, thirteen percent to the lumbar spine, sixteen percent to the lumbar spine, and seventeen percent to the lumbar spine.

**Whether Claimant’s physical therapist opined that he could perform medium work duties that involved flexing and rotating his lumbar spine.**

Respectfully, there is not a single medical note or opinion in the record as a whole that originates from the *Claimant’s* physical therapist stating that the Claimant could perform medium work duties. In fact, the Claimant attended twelve planned visits of physical therapy from September 3, 2015 to November 19, 2015 post-surgery.<sup>19</sup> The Claimant was discharged by his physical therapist with the assessment that he had “not progressed as anticipated and pain has been a limiting factor... even [in-clinic] PT has not been able to gain any increase[d] range.”<sup>20</sup> Because the Court of Appeals did not cite the Record in support of this highlighted finding of fact that Claimant’s physical therapist opined that he could perform medium work duties, the undersigned operates under the assumption that in stating this finding of fact, the Court of Appeals is referring to the Functional Capacity Evaluation performed on November 20, 2017.<sup>21</sup>

It should be noted that the Claimant testified that the *total amount of time* that he spent

---

17 Appendix p. 106, lines 6 through 8.

18 Appendix p. 107, lines 20 through 21.

19 Appendix p. 175 through 234.

20 Appendix p. 229.

21 Appendix pp. 132 through 137 and pp. 358 through 360.

performing this Functional Capacity was approximately two hours and twenty minutes.<sup>22</sup> The Functional Capacity Evaluation, performed on November 20, 2017, was a focused evaluation aimed only at determining whether the Claimant had achieved maximum medical improvement<sup>23</sup> and to determine the Claimant's ability to return to work.<sup>24</sup> The Claimant did *not* receive treatment or recommendations from this physical therapist. The Claimant did *not* establish a long-standing relationship with this physical therapist, either. In essence, the physical therapist evaluated the Claimant over a two-hour-and-twenty-minute period and gave her opinion regarding the Claimant's physical demand capacity. It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals misapprehended and/or overlooked the nature of the relationship between the Claimant and the therapist that performed the Functional Capacity Evaluation, and in turn, misapprehended and/or overlooked the weight that should be given to the results/findings of Functional Capacity Evaluation itself.

It is also respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals erred in overlooking the full opinion of the therapist that performed the functional capacity evaluation. The Court of Appeals found, as fact, that the Claimant could perform medium work duties that involved flexing and rotating his lumbar spine. Again, because there is no specific citation of the Record to signal where the Court of Appeals derived this stated fact, and although the undersigned does not agree that the Record supports such a finding of fact by the Court of Appeals, the undersigned continues to operate under the aforementioned assumption that the Court of Appeals is relying on page three hundred fifty-nine (359) of the Appendix. However, this very page specifically states that the Claimant "was noted to have decreased range of motion with lumbar/trunk rotational and flexion movements, and

---

22 Appendix p. 85, lines 10 through 12.

23 Appendix, p. 132, 313.

24 Appendix p. 317.

when lifting floor to waist with decreased body mechanics to decrease weight bearing on the [right lower extremity]...” The report also states that Claimant had max lumbar flexion of 50%, max lumbar extension of 50% and max thoracic rotation of 75% left and right.<sup>25</sup> Even further, the Claimant’s physician, Dr. Math, evaluated the results of the Functional Capacity Evaluation, disagreed as to whether the Claimant could return to work,<sup>26</sup> and assigned permanent physical limitations of light work duty with no lifting of greater than ten pounds.<sup>27</sup> The Functional Capacity Evaluation Report is replete with statements that paint a much bleaker picture than that which the Court of Appeals states as fact (i.e. the ability to perform medium work duties that involved flexing and rotating his lumbar spine). For instance, the report states:

- The Claimant “[a]mbulates with cane in his LEFT hand, decreased stances time on [right lower extremity], decreased [right] hip/knee flexion in swing phase, overall antalgic gait pattern.”<sup>28</sup>
- Claimant “reported low back and hip pain with all MMT testing on R LE, and increased pain with MMT of Left Hip.”<sup>29</sup>
- For the simple task of walking, “[a]erobic capacity was unable to be determined because of intense pain and antalgic gait on treadmill... patient was unable to tolerate the 5% grade and the minimum 2.0mph walking speed to complete the test. Pt was able to walk the 20min at 1.5mph with significant compensations... the following compensations were observed: decreased stance time on R LE creating asymmetrical stride length, decreased R hip/knee flexion in swing phase, labored breathing and mild sweating, forward flexed hip/trunk, B midfoot strike instead of heel strike, overall antalgic gait pattern, 8/10 low back pain reported after.”<sup>30</sup>
- Claimant “required the use of [upper extremities] on chair to return to standing, multiple attempts made without use of furniture that results in short drop back

---

25 Appendix p. 135.

26 Appendix p. 317.

27 Appendix p. 325.

28 Appendix p. 134.

29 Appendix p. 135.

30 Appendix p. 136.

to ground, [Claimant] was only successful after using [upper extremities] on chair base to return to standing.”<sup>31</sup>

This list is *not* exhaustive. The portions of the Record cited have even more detail regarding the Claimant’s physical condition that directly contradicts the finding of fact by the Court of Appeals that the Claimant *could* perform medium work duties that involved flexing and rotating his lumbar spine. Respectfully, it is submitted that the Court of Appeals erred in finding as fact that the Claimant could perform medium work duties. Further, it is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals erred in overlooking and/or misapprehending the medical opinion of Dr. Math, who opined that the Claimant suffered permanent physical limitations of light duty with no lifting of greater than ten pounds irrespective of the findings contained within the Functional Capacity Evaluation.<sup>32</sup>

**Whether Claimant’s treating physician and surgeon, Dr. McHenry, reported that Claimant’s spine surgery “was a success” and the disc herniation and L3-L4 extrusion were no longer present, and the implication of Dr. McHenry stating that a subsequent MRI showed no impingement on the Claimant’s nerve that could cause leg pain.**

Respectfully, the undersigned is particularly and especially concerned that the Court of Appeals entirely misconstrued the evidence in the record as a whole in determining that Dr. McHenry “reported that the Claimant’s spine surgery was a success and the disc herniation and L3-4 extrusion were no longer present.”<sup>33</sup> To the best of the undersigned’s knowledge, the word “success” does not appear in the Record *at any time*, and certainly not for the purpose of

---

31 Appendix p. 137.

32 Appendix p. 325.

33 Appendix p. 409.

describing the Claimant's surgical result. To the contrary, the surgeon, Dr. McHenry, stated, "Patient is 8 weeks [status post] L3-4 microdiscectomy... patient has just not done as expected in the post-op period."<sup>34</sup> The Record as whole is not consistent with the finding made by the Court of Appeals that the Claimant's spine surgery was a success. It is also offered that the finding that "a subsequent MRI showed no impingement" has no bearing whatsoever on whether the surgical procedure can be considered a success or failure. The undersigned further offers that the Record as a whole supports the Single Commissioner's finding and the Full Commission's affirmation that the Claimant suffered a "poor surgical result." The discrepancy between the undersigned's assertion and the finding of fact by the Court of Appeals appears to turn on the definition of "success" and the understanding of success criteria for surgical procedures. I would respectfully request that this Honorable Court take notice of the plain meaning of the Single Commissioner's and the Full Commission's intended use of the word "result". Merriam-Webster defines "result" (noun) as "something that results as a consequence, issue, or conclusion." Respectfully, it is far more reasonable to conclude, that by the use of the word "result", the Single Commissioner and Full Commission were concerned with the "result" as it pertained to the alleviation of the Claimant's symptoms and not as it pertained to whether the surgical procedure successfully removed the compression from the Claimant's nerve.

In applying the aforementioned definition to the Claimant's surgical outcome (or result), it is clear that the Claimant indeed suffered a "poor surgical result" as found by the Single Commissioner and affirmed by the Full Commission. Respectfully, there is little, if anything, in the Record to support any other finding. In fact, from a logical standpoint, it simply would not be reasonable to interpret the Single Commissioner's and the Full Commission's finding that the

---

<sup>34</sup> Appendix p. 153.

Claimant suffered a poor surgical result as anything but that the Claimant's *outcome* was poor based on the continued difficulties and permanent nerve damage that the Claimant suffered (and continues to suffer).

This finding by the Court of Appeals appears to infer that because Dr. McHenry, in reviewing the MRI performed on February 15, 2017, opined that the disc herniation and extrusion at L3-4 is no longer present, *that therefore*, the surgical result was successful. That is a clear misapprehension of the purpose of the MRI study altogether. The purpose of the study was to determine whether the Claimant would benefit from further surgical intervention.<sup>35</sup> Because the MRI did not show any further compression of the spine that would alleviate symptoms, a second surgery was not recommended. However, that is *not* evidence of a successful surgical outcome or result.

That leads us to the discussion regarding the Claimant's permanent nerve damage and the inferences made by the Court of Appeals. The finding(s) made by the Court of Appeals appears to infer that because Dr. McHenry opined that the MRI showed no impingement on the Claimant's nerve that could cause leg pain, that somehow, that opinion suggests that either the Claimant had a successful surgical result, that the Claimant no longer suffered the symptoms and/or condition (radiculopathy) that hoped to be resolved by the surgical procedure, or both. Again, that is a clear misunderstanding of the definition of "success" or "failure" of a surgical procedure, and more importantly, that is a clear misunderstanding of Dr. McHenry's stated opinion. Dr. McHenry wanted to determine whether any further surgical intervention was indicated. As we have already established, Dr. McHenry opined that the Claimant would not benefit from further surgical

---

<sup>35</sup> Appendix p. 168, ("I do not think [Claimant] would benefit from further surgical intervention.")

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