RECEIVED

Oct 16 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

SCWCC File No. 1508995

Appellate Case No. 2022-001095

Samuel Paulino, Claimant

Petitioner,

v.

Diversified Coatings, Inc.,
Employer, and AmGuard Ins.
Co., Carrier

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS BRIEF

George D. Gallagher, Esquire
Speed, Seta, Martin, Trivett, Stubley, &
Fickling, LLC
P.O. Box 11669
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 748-2919
SC Bar# 12149
ggallagher@speed-seta.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE COMMISSION’S FINDING OF GREATER THAN 50% LOSS OF USE OF THE BACK WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY “MEDICAL EVIDENCE” IN THE RECORD.

Relying on Clemmons v. Lowe’s Home Centers, Inc., 420 S.C. 282, 803 S.E.2d 268 (2017), the Court of Appeals held “the Commission erred in affirming the single commissioner’s determination that Petitioner’s back is impaired greater than fifty percent because “there is no *medical evidence* in the record that supported” that finding. Paulino v. Diversified Coatings, Inc., Unpublished Op. No. 2022-UP-096 at p. 2. “Medical evidence” is defined under the Act as “expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider.” S.C. Code §42-1-160 (G).

Clemmons holds that “medical evidence” of impairment is virtually outcome determinative of a claimant’s entitlement to PPD compensation under § 42-9-30 (21). 803 S.E.2d 268 at p. 271. In that case, the claimant had a multi-level cervical fusion and was assigned a 25% whole person impairment rating by the authorized treating physician. That rating converted to a 71% regional impairment to the cervical spine per the *AMA Guides*. The Commission awarded claimant PPD benefits based on 48% loss of use of the back. Despite evidence in the record confirming claimant returned to full duty work as a cashier at Lowes performing tasks indicative of *less than* fifty-percent loss of use of his back, the Supreme Court reversed the Commission’s award, finding “there is *no* evidence in the record that Clemmons suffered anything less than a fifty percent impairment to his back. Every doctor and medical professional who assigned an *AMA Guides*

impairment rating indicated Clemmons lost more than seventy percent of the use of his back.”
(emphasis added).

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that the undisputed “medical evidence” confirms whole person impairment ratings of only 13% from Dr. McHenry and 12% from Dr. Math. These impairments are obviously significantly less than 50%. Even if the medical impairment rating alone is not outcome determinative of PPD compensation under § 42-9-30 (21), the medical impairment rating opined by a doctor is clearly the paramount factor for the Commission’s consideration in light of this Court’s reference to the term “medical evidence” on no less than four occasions throughout its opinion in Clemmons. As such, Diversified submits that the Commission clearly erred as a matter of law by ignoring the primacy of the medical impairment rating commanded by Clemmons by finding Petitioner sustained loss of use of the back **OVER FOR TIMES GREATER** than the medical impairments.

Further, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the Commission’s finding that the impairment ratings in the instant case were “low based on a poor surgical result” as being unsupported by competent “medical evidence.” See Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 428-429, 737 S.E 2d 200, 206-207 (Ct. App. 2012)(a commission finding regarding a medical issue that does not originate from a medical provider is not supported by substantial evidence as a matter of law). Petitioner’s appeal to the primacy of Commission’s “administrative expertise” [Pet. For Writ of Cert. p. 8] in medical matters is a red herring argument. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that general administrative expertise cannot usurp the actual “medical evidence” presented in any given case. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals properly held that the medical impairment ratings in this case are unrefuted; thus, the Commission’s award of total disability based on greater than 50% loss of use of the back was unfounded based on the “medical evidence.” An award from

the Commission not in accord with the medical impairment ratings from a doctor is the result this Court categorically rejected in Clemmons.

It can be fairly questioned what “medical evidence” other than the medical impairment rating, *if any*, justifies a scheduled disability award higher than the medical impairment rating denotes. An appellate court must affirm the findings made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence, in this case “medical evidence.” *See Clemmons supra*. However, “[a]n appellate court can reverse or modify the Commission's decision if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record.” Pierre v. Seaside Farms, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618. Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence [that], considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action. Taylor v. S.C. Dept of Motor Vehicles, 368 S.C. 33, 36, 627 S.E.2d 751, 752 (Ct. App. 2006).

A valid functional capacity evaluation (FCE) arguably constitutes other medical evidence that the Commission may properly consider for awarding PPD compensation for injury to the back. In this case, Petitioner’s FCE was highlighted by the following capabilities: 1) MEDIUM duty lifting capacity with OCCASIONAL maximum lift of 50 pounds and FREQUENT lift capacity of 15 pounds; 2) CONSTANT level (greater than 40 minutes/hour) for sitting, walking, and standing; 3) FREQUENT level (20-40 minutes/hour) for lumbar flexion and rotation; and 4) OCCASIONAL level (less than 20 minutes per hour) for kneeling, squatting, and overhead lifting. [APPENDIX p. 359]. These functional capacities, coupled with the 12% lumbar spine and 13% whole person impairment ratings from the treating physicians do not logically equate to greater than 50% loss of use of the back.

In sum, for the sound reasons cited in its Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly determined there was no other sufficient “medical evidence” in the Record supporting the Commission’s award of greater than 50% loss of use of the back. “Reasonable minds” simply cannot justify an award of total disability based on a finding of greater than 50% loss of use of the back that is over FOUR TIMES GREATER than the medical impairment ratings when there is no other medical evidence to the contrary.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THERE IS NO OTHER SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD REGARDING THE “CHARACTER” OF CLAIMANT’S INJURY SUPPORTING THE COMMISSION’S FINDING OF GREATER THAN 50% LOSS OF USE OF HIS BACK.

Under the “medical model” of compensation per § 42-9-30, the nature and character of the injury to a scheduled member controls the award to a statutorily presumed period of disability. *See Stephenson v. Rice Services*, 323 S.C. 113, 473 S.E.2d 699 (SC 1996) (with scheduled disability injuries the compensation depends on the “character of the injury” rather than loss of earnings). Moreover, a permanent disability award pursuant to S.C. Code § 42-9-30 “need not be shown with mathematical exactness,” but it still must only be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonably determinable basis for it. *See Bundrick v. Powell’s Garage and Wrecker Service*, 248 S.C. 496, 151 S.E.2d 437 (SC 1966) (the award may not rest on surmise, conjecture or speculation; it must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it).

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that Petitioner presented only sparse testimony regarding the nature and extent of his physical injuries. There is no testimony or other subjective evidence that refutes the objective “medical evidence” confirming impairment of less than 50% loss of use of the back. As such, the speculative nature of the Commission’s finding

that Petitioner sustained a greater than 50% loss of use of the back is self-evident. The Commission never even determined what Petitioner’s actual loss of use of his back was; it merely found the impairment was some **unknown factor** over four times greater than the impairment ratings. This is clearly erroneous because there is no evidence of “sufficient substance” to support it. See Bundrick supra.

Although this Court in Clemmons found there was no evidence of impairment *less* than 50%, this Court still nevertheless remanded the case to the Commission with instructions to determine the actual impairment. Clemmons, 420 S.C. at pp. 489-490. A finding of the actual impairment is clearly required. Otherwise, the award is nothing more than speculation, surmise, and conjecture and cannot stand. See Bundrick supra. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly reversed the Commission’s generic finding that Claimant’s impairment is simply greater than the threshold for a presumption of total disability.

Finally, if the medical impairment rating must be the paramount factor for purposes of awarding PPD under the “medical model” of compensation as this Court clearly holds in Clemmons, then other non-medical or lay evidence regarding the character of the injury cannot logically supersede the proportion the impairment rating bears to the Commission’s ultimate total loss of use award under S.C. Code § 42-9-30 (21). Although the award need not be shown with “mathematical exactness,” the Commission’s award of permanent and total disability based on an undetermined loss of use of the back over **FOUR TIMES GREATER than the medical impairment ratings**, and unsupported by other medical evidence and/or lay testimony regarding the character of the injury, stretches the limits of that premise beyond any useful application. The Commission’s “administrative expertise” and discretion is not a license to render permanent disability awards contrary to medical and other evidence presented in a particular case. Although

an award of permanent disability may not be definable with mathematical precision, it must make some modicum of sense based on the evidence as a whole. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the Commission's award in this case fails miserably in that regard.

CONCLUSION

For all the aforementioned reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly REVERSED the Full Commission's permanent and total disability award. This Court must AFFIRM and REMAND the case back to the Full Commission with instructions to render an appropriate PPD award in accordance with evidentiary Record.